
 

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
FAMILY COURT – JUVENILE AND NEGLECT BRANCH 

 
In the Matter of    :  
     : 
     : Docket #  
     : Judge Jones 
     : 
Tori Smith,    : 
 Respondent.   : 
     : 
 
 

MOTION TO DISMISS THE PETITION AGAINST TORI SMITH  
BASED UPON VIOLATIONS OF THE COURT’S INTAKE PROCESS  

(D.C. CODE § 16-2305)  
 

Sharon Smith, grandmother and legal guardian of Tori Smith, through 
undersigned counsel, moves for a dismissal of the person in need of supervision (PINS) 
petition against Tori.  In support of this motion, Ms. Smith states the following: 

1. During the 2011-2012 academic year, Tori Smith was a student at the Felix 
Frankfurter Middle School. On July 2, 2012, a petition was filed with this court 
charging Tori with truancy pursuant to D.C. Code § 16-2301(8)(A)(1) and (B). 

2. Tori is a student with a disability, specifically a seizure disorder, and is not 
receiving from D.C. Public Schools (DCPS) services to which she is entitled that 
would address her periodic non-attendance at school.   

3. Tori has an inappropriate and inadequate “504 Plan.”  According to the 504 plan, 
Tori’s seizure disorder restricts the following life activities:  (1) concentration, (2) 
communication, (3) learning, and (4) ability to speak.  The 504 plan fails to 
provide for any educational support services to be implemented when Tori misses 
school due to the onset of her seizures.    

4. In addition, Ms. Smith has requested that DCPS personnel find Tori eligible for 
special education services pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Education 
Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C. § 1400 et seq.  Despite a determination by a psychologist 
who performed an Independent Education Evaluation and a recommendation by a 
DCPS school psychologist, DCPS administrators and other personnel have, so far, 
violated the IDEA by refusing to create and implement for Tori an individualized 
education program (IEP). 

5. According to 20 U.S.C. § 1415(k)(6)(B), the complaining agency (DCPS) must 
provide copies of special education and disciplinary records to the Director of 
Social Services for consideration. DCPS failed to provide special education 
records and disciplinary records. 

6. On July 25, 2012, in response to the DCPS PINS referral to the D.C. Superior 
Court, the Social Services Division intake filled out the initial intake assessment 
form.   
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7. The Director of Social Services did not have records to conduct an investigation 
of the facts concerning Tori’s absences. The Director may not have even been 
aware that Tori has an education-related disabilty that interfered with her 
attendance at school. Therefore, the determination to recommend  petitioning is 
invalid.  Based upon information and belief, Ms. Smith also asserts that the intake 
probation officer did not interview relevant people and, therefore, did not uncover 
relevant facts about the failure of DCPS personnel to follow the law and to 
properly serve Tori. 

8. The Director of Social Services violated the intake process mandated by D.C. 
Code § 16-2305 by, inter alia, failing to investigate and failing, therefore, to 
recognize that the District of Columbia Public Schools had failed to provide to 
Tori Smith, a student with a disability, appropriate services and reasonable 
accommodations. 

9. The purpose of 20 U.S.C. § 1415(k)(6)(B), as well as D.C. Code § 16-2305, to 
ensure that all children with disabilities have available to them a free appropriate 
public education that emphasizes special education and related services designed 
to meet their unique needs and prepare them for further education, employment, 
and independent living.”  
 
For the reasons stated above, as detailed in the attached memorandum of points 

and authorities, and for any other reasons that may appear to the court in a hearing on this 
motion, Ms. Smith requests that the court dismiss this matter for the reasons stated above 
and in the interest of justice. 

Respectfully submitted,  

__________________________________________ 
Lisa M. Geis 
D.C. Bar # 
Education Counsel for Sharon Smith, guardian 
University of the District of Columbia 
David A. Clarke School of Law 
4200 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, D.C.  20008 
(202) 274-5480 
lisa.geis@udc.edu 

_________________________________________ 
Joseph B. Tulman 
D.C. Bar # 
Education Counsel for Sharon Smith, guardian 
(202) 274-7317 
(202) 274-5583 (fax) 
Jtulman@udc.edu 
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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
FAMILY COURT – JUVENILE AND NEGLECT  BRANCH 

 
 

In the Matter of    :  
     : 
     : Docket # 2012PIN129  
     : Judge Jones 
     : 
Tori Smith,    : 
 Respondent.   : 
 

 
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF 
THE MOTION TO DISMISS THE PETITION AGAINST TORI SMITH  
BASED UPON VIOLATIONS OF THE COURT’S INTAKE PROCESS  

(D.C. CODE § 16-2305)  
 

 
Statement of Facts 

 Tori Smith is a thirteen-year-old, elementary school student with a disability. 
Specifically, Tori has frequent seizures, and she is often unable to predict their arrival 
until seconds before they begin.  Medical professionals at Children’s Hospital diagnosed 
Tori with epilepsy, a seizure disorder that she will likely continue to experience.   

As a result of her seizures, Tori at times must be taken to the emergency room.  
Frequently, the unpredictable seizures force Tori to miss school.  Unfortunately, 
administrators and other personnel at the public school that Tori attends have failed to 
make reasonable accommodations.  For example, they have not provided Tori with 
tutoring or other appropriate services that would enable her to catch up when she misses 
classes.  Similarly, school administrators have not provided episodic homebound 
education to Tori.  Rather, school administrators referred Tori to the D.C. Superior Court 
based upon allegations of truancy during the 2011-2012 school year.  See D.C. Code § 
16-2301(8)(A)(i), (B).  

In February 2012 while Tori was a sixth-grade student at the Felix Frankfurter 
Middle School, school administrators recognized that Tori is eligible for a 504 Plan. See 
29 U.S.C. § 794. The 504 Team determined Tori’s seizure disorder substantially 
restricted four life activities: (1) concentration, (2) communication, (3) learning, and (4) 
ability to speak.  The plan, remarkably, does not provide for any educational support 
services for Tori.   

Sharon Smith is Tori’s grandmother and legal guardian.  Ms. Smith sought an 
independent educational evaluation in order to determine what additional services and 
supports would be appropriate for Tori.  In December 2011, Dr. Jenna Nunn conducted 
an independent education evaluation.  The report revealed Tori’s long history of 
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academic struggles beginning as early as her first year in kindergarten.  The report points 
to a diagnosis of Borderline Intellectual Functioning and Adjustment Disorder with 
Mixed Disturbances of Emotions and Conduct.  Dr. Nunn concluded that Tori is eligible 
for special education services under the classification of “other health impairment” and 
that an individualized education program (IEP) should be created and implemented. 
Based upon the failure of school administrators to respond appropriately to Tori’s needs, 
Sharon Smith engaged undersigned counsel in April 2012 to provide representation in 
matters concerning Tori’s need for reasonable accommodations in the 504 plan and need 
for special education services. 

Although the D.C. Public Schools (DCPS) school psychologist, Susan Thomas, 
concluded that Tori appeared to meet the criteria for special education services because 
of her emotional disturbances, in May 2012, DCPS refused to identify Tori as a student 
with a disability under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA). 

DCPS administrators compounded their failure to include reasonable 
accommodations in Tori’s 504 plan and failed to recognize that Tori is also eligible to 
receive special education services. When referring Tori to Superior Court as an allegedly 
truant child, DCPS administrators failed to provide to the Superior Court’s Director of 
Social Services records regarding Tori’s disabilities and DCPS’s failures to provide 
services to Tori.  Although required to conduct an investigation into the complaint, the 
Director of Social Services did not consider Tori’s disabilities or DCPS’s failures to 
comply with the law and to provide appropriate services to Tori when recommending 
petitioning to the Office of the Attorney General (OAG).  Consequently, the assistant 
attorney general did not have access to critical, pivotal facts when considering whether to 
petition. 
 

Argument 

The Director of Social Services violated the intake process mandated by D.C. Code § 
16-2305 by, inter alia, failing to investigate and failing, therefore, to recognize that 
the District of Columbia Public Schools had failed to provide to Tori Smith, a 
student with a disability, reasonable accommodations and appropriate services. 
 

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 provides that no person “shall, 
solely by reason of her or his disability, be excluded from the participation in, be denied 
the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving 
Federal financial assistance…” 29 U.S.C. § 794.  Such programs include public 
elementary schools.  Id. at (b)(2)(B).  The United States Department of Education defines 
a child with a disability as “a child evaluated in accordance with §§ 300.304 through 
300.311 as having … an other health impairment, a specific learning disability, … and 
who, by reason thereof, needs special education and related services.”  34 C.F.R. § 300.8.  
The purpose of regulations such as Section 504 and the Individuals with Disabilities 
Education Act (codified at 20 U.S.C. § 1400 et seq.) is “to ensure that all children with 
disabilities have available to them a free appropriate public education that emphasizes 
special education and related services designed to meet their unique needs and prepare 
them for further education, employment, and independent living.”  34 C.F.R. § 300.1(a). 
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Accordingly, schools are legally bound to identify students with special education needs 
and to provide them with individualized services to address those needs.  20 U.S.C. § 
1412(a)(3)(A).  

In a decision defining “special education” and “related services,” the Supreme 
Court relied on 20 U.S.C. § 1401(16), "specially designed instruction, at no cost to 
parents or guardians, to meet the unique needs of a handicapped child, including 
classroom instruction, instruction in physical education, home instruction, and instruction 
in hospitals and institutions."  Irving Independent School Dist. V. Tatro, 468 U.S. 883, 
889 (1984) (clean intermittent catheritization is a related service).  Other related services 
include, but are not limited to, education in both academic and non-academic settings, 
evaluations and re-evaluations, counseling (academic and otherwise) services, physical 
education, and vocational education. 34 C.F.R. §§ 104.33–104.39.  A properly developed 
504 plan or IEP must include related sevices designed to meet the unique need of a child 
with a disability.  20 U.S.C. § 1412(a)(4). 

DCPS administrators violated federal law by failing to provide to the Director of 
Social Services information about Tori’s disabilities and DCPS’s failure to provide (in 
the 504 Plan) tutoring, homebound education, and other reasonable accommodations and 
DCPS’s failure to recognize that Tori also qualifies for IDEA services.  When school 
administrators refer a child with special education needs “to and action by law 
enforcement judicial authorities,” the “agency reporting a crime committed by a child 
with a disability shall ensure that copies of the special education and disciplinary records 
of the child are transmitted for consideration by the appropriate authorities to whom the 
agency reports the crime.” 20 U.S.C. § 1415(k)(6)(B).   

In 1988, the U.S. Supreme Court held “that Congress very much meant to strip 
schools of the unilateral authority they had traditionally employed to exclude disabled 
students, particularly emotionally disturbed students, from school.”  Honig v. Doe, 485 
U.S. 305, 323 (1988). The court in Trent M. was clear that “the purpose of the IDEA is to 
prevent schools from initiating juvenile proceedings against students with exceptional 
educational needs.”   In re Trent M., 569 N.W.2d 719, 725 (Wis. Ct. App. 1997).  The 
Trent court also spoke to the need for investgation in proceedings against children with 
special education needs, stating “whether school administrators are attempting an end run 
of special education responsibilities should be considered at the ‘investigative and 
referral levels’ of the  juvenile court process at which decisions are made regarding 
“whether the case belongs in the juvenile system in the first instance...” Id. at 724. 

When DCPS administrators allege that a child is in need of supervision, the 
complaint is referred to the Director of Social Services.  D.C. Code § 16-2305(a).  The 
Director is required to conduct an inquiry as to the facts of the complaint “to determine 
whether the best interests of the child or the public require that a petition be filed.”  Id.  
“After an inquiry into the facts and determination of the legal basis for the petition,” the 
Director may or may not recommend the filing of a petition to the Office of the Attorney 
General.  Id.  The Model Juvenile Code defines the “powers of the probation officer” to 
include “mak[ing] investigations, reports, and recommendations to the juvenile court; 
receiv[ing] and examin[ing] complaints and charges of delinquency, unruly conduct or 
deprivation of a child for the purpose of considering the commencement of proceedings. . 
. . [and] mak[ing] appropriate referrals to other private or public agencies of the 
community if their assistance appears to be needed or desirable…”  Model Juv. Ct. Act § 
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6 (1968).  If the Director does not recommend petitioning, the complainant may request 
that the attorney general “review the facts presented” and “file a petition if he believes 
such action is needed to protect the community or interests of the child.”  Id. at (c)(1).  
Both federal and local regulations are clear as to the need for thorough investigations 
when complainants concerning children with disabilities are referred to judicial system.1  
By not exercising discretion, both the Director of Social Services and the OAG abuse 
their discretion. 

During the 2011-2012 academic year, Tori was a sixth-grade student at Felix 
Frankfurter Middle School, a public elementary school in the District of Columbia.  In 
February 2012, a “504 Plan” was implemented because Tori had been diagnosed with 
having a seizure disorder that affected her attendance and, consequently, limited at times 
her availability to learn.  Over the course of the school year, Tori missed many days 
because of her seizures.  In the 504 plan, DCPS acknowledged that Tori’s seizure 
disorder affected her ability to access the DCPS’s educational program.  Because DCPS 
failed to provide home-based education when Tori was absent from school and failed to 
provide tutoring to help her catch up, Tori was increasingly falling behind at school.  
Tori’s 504 plan fails to address her needs for educational supports.  DCPS personnel 
failed to develop and implement a legally-sufficient 504 plan.  By failing to develop and 
implement a plan with sufficient support for Tori, DCPS failed to provide Tori with the 
educational tools needed to be successful at school.  In effect, DCPS denied Tori the right 
to a free and appropriate public education. 

Although D.C. law requires that the Director of Social Services conduct an 
investigation before recommending whether to petition a truancy matter, it is evident, 
based on the contents of Tori’s social assessment file, that no such investigation was 
conducted in this matter.  The file does not include any school records -- records about 
attendance or records about Tori’s disability (e.g., the 504 plan).  DCPS administrators 
did not provide the independent evaluation finding that Tori is also eligible for special 
education services.  Not surprisingly, DCPS administrators also failed to provide  
information about their failure to provide reasonable accommodations and appropriate 
related (support) services..  A proper investigation by the Director of Social Services – 
including speaking with people and examining appropriate records -- when the truancy 
complaint was filed would have revealed that Tori’s absences were a result of her 
ongoing medical condition and her need for educational support services.   

Because the Director of Social Services did not adequately investigate the truancy 
complaint, the recommendation to move forward with the petition against Tori is invalid.  
Further, the failure of DCPS to develop a 504 Plan that was designed to meet Tori’s 
needs violates section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

In failing to provide to the Director of Social Services records and information 
regarding Tori’s education-related disabilities and DCPS’s related actions and inactions 
to address those disabilities, DCPS administrators violated federal law.  See 20 U.S.C. § 
1415(k)(6).  This federal provision meshes with D.C. Code § 16-2305 to ensure that the 
Director of Social Services ferrets out cases in which school personnel have failed to 

                                                 
1 “Of course, it would be a violation of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 if a school were 
discriminating against children with disabilities in how they were acting under this authority (e.g., if they 
were only reporting crimes committed by children with disabilities and not [those] committed by 
nondisabled students).” 64 Fed. Reg. 12631 (March 12, 1999). 
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respond appropriately and legally and in which those school personnel perversely attempt 
to “blame the victim” by seeking the court’s complicity in charging the child as a status 
offender.  This court does not have initial jurisdiction over special education matters and 
section 504 matters, and federal law is controlling.  This court has been charged with 
ensuring fundamental fairness and due process in matters of delinquency while holding 
“the government accountable for the provision of reasonable rehabilitative services.” 
D.C. Code § 16-2301.02.  

 

Conclusion 

For the foregoing reasons and any others that become apparent to the court at a 
hearing on this motion, the Court should dismiss the petiton against Tori Smith based 
upon the violation of D.C. Code § 16-2305 and DCPS’s failure to follow federal law (20 
U.S.C. § 1415(k)(6). 

 
Respectfully submitted,  

__________________________________________ 
Lisa M. Geis 
D.C. Bar # 
Education Counsel for Sharon Smith, guardian 
University of the District of Columbia 
David A. Clarke School of Law 
4200 Connecticut Avenue, N.W., Bldg. 52 
Washington, D.C.  20008 
(202) 274-5480 
lisa.geis@udc.edu 

_________________________________________ 
Joseph B. Tulman 
D.C. Bar # 
Education Counsel for Sharon Smith, guardian 
University of the District of Columbia 
David A. Clarke School of Law 
4200 Connecticut Avenue, N.W., Bldg. 52 
Washington, D.C.  20008 
(202) 274-7317 
(202) 274-5583 (fax) 
Jtulman@udc.edu 

 


